IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH ALLEN STEWART,

Appellant,

Case No. SC08-2075

vs.

Lower Ct. No. 85-CF-5667

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. NORGARD ATTOREY AT LAW FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 322059

P.O. BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33831 (863)533-8556 ANDREA M. NORGARD ATTORNEY AT LAW FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 661066

P.O. BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33831 (863)533-8556

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of sixteen volumes. Volumes I through XI contain the documents filed with the clerk's office and will be referenced by the volume number and the designation "R". Volumes X-XVI contains the transcripts of the proceedings and will be referenced by the volume number and the designation "T". A hearing held on November 26, 2008 was omitted from the transcripts, but is contained in the attachments to the trial court's order and will be referenced by the volume number and the designation "R". In Volume II, the pagination by the clerk skips from p. 266 to 282.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Stewart was indicted by the grand jury for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, Hillsborough County, for the offense of first-degree murder on June 5, 1985. (I,R33-35) Mr. Stewart was charged with a violation of §782.04, Fla. Stat. (1985) in the death of Rueben Diaz on December 6, 1984.(I,R33-35)

A jury convicted Mr. Stewart of first degree murder and recommend death by vote of 12 to 0.(I,R41) The trial court imposed a sentence of death on October 3, 1986.

(I,R36-54) Mr. Stewart appealed to this Court, which reversed for a new penalty phase proceeding. <u>See</u>, <u>Stewart</u> v. State, 558 So.2d 416, 420 (Fla. 1990).

A second penalty phase was conducted in October 1990, which resulted in a unanimous jury recommendation of death.(I,R76) A death sentence was imposed on November 21, 1990. Mr. Stewart appealed his sentence to this Court, which affirmed. <u>See</u>, <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 620 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1993).

Post-conviction proceedings were begun, in which a claim was raised that defense counsel from the second penalty phase proceeding in 1990 was ineffective. Mr. Michael Jones, Stewart's attorney, admitted that he had used cocaine during Stewart's penalty phase proceeding and was ineffective. Jones ultimately resigned from the Florida Bar. The State stipulated to a third penalty phase proceeding.(I,R79)

Mr. Stewart was represented in the third penalty phase proceeding by Mr. Robert Fraser.(I,R79) The third penalty phase was held on March 20-21, 2001.(I,R79;Vol.VII and VIII) At the conclusion of the proceeding the jury recommended death by a vote of 7-5.. Mr. Stewart was

sentenced to death by the trial court on August 6, 2001.(I,R57-71) The trial court's written order reflects the following aggravating factors:

(1) The Defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person. The trial court found that Mr. Stewart was convicted of Murder in Case No. 85-4825 and Attempted Second Degree Murder and Armed Robber in Case No. 85-4025. These convictions arose after Michelle Acosta and Mark Harris picked up Mr. Stewart who was hitchhiking. Mr. Stewart shot both Ms. Acosta and Mr. Harris. Mr. Harris later died of his injuries. Ms. Acosta's car was taken by Mr. Stewart and later set on fire.(I,R58)

(2) The capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felon and under sentence of imprisonment. The court found that in June 1984 Mr. Stewart was in custody, but walked away and escaped.

(3) The capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain. The trial court found that Mr. Stewart and his codefendant were out of money and decided to rob someone. They went into a bar and struck a conversation with Ruben Diaz. The three men left the bar together in Mr. Diaz's car. Several days later, Mr. Stewart and two other men

drove with Mr. Diaz to an isolated area, where Mr. Diaz was robbed of his money and some cocaine. Mr. Diaz was shot twice by Mr. Stewart.

The trial court's written order reflects the following mitigating findings of the court:

The trial court found that Mr. Stewart was not under extreme mental disturbance at the time of the shooting. Two defense experts testified that Mr. Stewart suffered from PTSD as a result of his traumatic childhood and was intoxicated at the time of the offense. The state expert testified that Mr. Stewart was not psychotic at the time of the offense, was not mentally ill, and did not suffer from any emotional disturbance. Dr. Merin testified that Mr. Stewart was not under extreme mental distress at the time of the murder. The trial court rejected a finding of extreme mental distress, but found that Mr. Stewart's mental health was impaired and his mental problems were further exacerbated by the use of alcohol and drugs. (I,R61) The trial court gave some weight to this factor.

The trial court rejected a finding that Mr. Stewart was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. Two defense experts testified that Mr. Stewart's ability to conform his conduct

to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired as a result of his intense and cruel childhood, his alcohol abuse since age 12, and brushes with the law since a young teenager. Defense opinions were based, in part, on testing results from an IQ test and the MMPI.(I,R62) The State expert did not believe Mr. Stewart was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, but rather opined that Mr. Stewart had a character disorder and exhibited antisocial personality disorder.(I,R62) The trial court found that Mr. Stewart was not substantially impaired, but found that his capacity was impaired based on his background and gave some weight to this factor.(I,R63)

The trial court found and assigned some weight to the following factors: physical brutality against Mr. Stewart as a child, repeated physical brutality from family members and other witnesses by Mr. Stewart- Violence became a norm; Gross emotional stress between ages of three and twelve; inability to adapt to surroundings as evidenced by bedwetting and other behaviors; and abuse by his aunt while in her care. (I,R63-64)

The trial court gave the following mitigating factors modest weight, finding they had been reasonable established but had been considered in the prior mitigating factors:

The total absence of a remotely acceptable role model, especially a father; the absence of a father during tender years; learning at age 12 that man he believed to be his father was his stepfather.(I,R65)

The trial court considered the following factors together and assigned them little additional weight beyond that previously given the aforementioned mitigation: abandonment by mother at age three; without a mother for some undefined period of time during his tender years; a crippling, life-long obsession with mother who abandoned him.(I,R65-66)

The trial court considered that Mr. Stewart had been inculcated to alcohol abuse as a child, was intoxicated at the time of the offense, and suffered long term alcohol abuse as evidence of impairment and gave these factors modest weight in addition to the previous consideration of these factors in other mitigation categories which had been given some weight.(I,R66)

The trial court gave little weight to low intelligence and 8^{th} grade education, but found that these mitigators to be barely established.(I,R66)

Little weight was given to the mitigating factor of homelessness.(I,R66)

The trial court assigned modest weight to Mr. Stewart's remorse for the murder, his compassion for others while incarcerated, and spiritual development while incarcerate.(I,R67) The trial court also gave modest weight to additional incarceration totaling 130 years that Mr. Stewart had been sentenced to.(I,R67)

Little weight was given to a good prison record.

The trial court determined that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating circumstances and imposed a sentence of death.(I,R68) This Court affirmed the sentence in <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 872 So.2d 226 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2004).

The Office of Capital Collateral Regional Counsel [CCRC] filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and sentence on July 25, 2005, alleging twelve claims for relief.(I,R72-111) The State's Answer was filed on September 20, 2005.(I,R112-130) CCRC filed an Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction on February 6, 2006, which deleted Claim XII, to which the State filed an Amended Answer on February 13, 2006.(I,R131-172; 173-177;187-203)

The trial court entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing on several claims alleged in the

amended motion following a hearing held on February 20, 2006.(I,R178-204) Of the eleven grounds for relief raised by CCRC, the trial court granted an evidentiary hearing on Claims I, II, III, IV, V, IX. (I, R181-184; 187) The trial court denied an evidentiary hearing on Claims VI, VIII, X, and XI.(I,R181-183) The trial court reserved ruling on Claim VII until after the hearing.(I,R182;193) Claims I-III argued ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to obtain competent mental health assistance, adequately investigate and present mitigation evidence, and failing to conduct an adequate investigation into the background information obtained from Margaret Sawyer.(I,R179) Claim IV argued that Mr. Stewart's right to confrontation was violated during the cross-examination of Ms. Sawyer.(I,R179) Claim V argued that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to hearsay statements of Michelle Acosta and James Harville.(I,R179) Claim ТΧ argued trial counsel was ineffective by conceding the three aggravating factors found by the trial court.(I,R179) Claim VII argued cumulative error. (I, R179)

The trial court issued a Final Order Denying Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment of Conviction And Sentence on

October 7, 2008.(II,R228-266; Attachments to Order II,R282-405, Vol.III,R406-606, Vol.IV,R607-807, Vol.5,R808-1008, Vol.VI,R1009-1170)

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on October 20, 2008.(VI,R1171) An Amended Notice of Appeal, which corrected the case number was filed on October 31, 2008.(VI,R1177)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following summarizes the testimony presented at the hearings held in the lower court:

The first portion of the evidentiary hearing in this case was held on May 24, 2006, before circuit judge Barbara Fleisher.(Vol.X) An agreement was reached by the parties to conduct a deposition to perpetuate the testimony of defense witness Lillian Brown due to poor health.(X,T6)

Pastor Robert Vanhorne testified that he is currently the pastor at Trinity Lutheran Church in St. Petersburg, FL.(X,T20) Pastor Vanhorne was in St. Petersburg in 2001. (X,T27) He did not recall being contacted by attorney Robert Fraser.(X,T27) Pastor Vanhorne served as a pastor at Lutheran Church of the Redeemer in Charleston, South Carolina from 1970-1981, during which time Mr. Stewart and his family attended Redeemer.(X,T20) Mr. Stewart was in

his early teens.(X,T20) Pastor Vanhorne recalled that the Scarpo family was one of the strangest families he'd ever met, in particular Mr. Bruce Scarpo, Mr. Stewart's step father.(X,T20) Mr. Scarpo appeared to be a "wheelerdealer" with a very different lifestyle from the middleclass families at the church.(X,T21,23) Pastor Vanhorne recalled having to accompany Mr. Scarpo several times to nightclubs or bars.(X,T21)

Pastor Vanhorne also visited the Scarpo home where Mr. Stewart was living.(X,T22) He recalled attending a postbaptismal event where he observed a very strange custom of pinning money to baby's clothing in an effort to show off.(X,T22) The event was a ruckus.(X,T23) The attendees were mostly friends of Bruce Scarpo, mainly police officers.(X,T23)

Pastor Vanhorne described the Scarpo home as not in good condition.(X,T23) The area it was located in was not very good.(X,T23) He was in the home two or three times.(X,T31) He did not see any abuse of the children.(X,T31)

Mr. Stewart was in the first communion class at Redeemer when he was in fifth or sixth grade.(X,T24) Pastor Vanhorne recalled that Mr. Stewart was frail, quiet,

withdrawn, and not very engaged.(X,T24) He was not a behavior problem. Mr. Stewart always seemed younger than his biological age.(X,T24)

Pastor Vanhorne would have appeared and testified for Mr. Stewart in 2001 if he had been asked to do so.(X,T28)

Sandra Hibbard testified that she lives in Florida and was at one time married to Mr. Stewart's biological father, Charles Stewart.(X,T35) Charles Stewart went by the nickname "Pete".(X,T35) Ms. Hibbard married Charles Stewart in 1967 when she was 16 and he was 29.(X,T35-36) The couple lived various places, but Stewart was not a stable family man.(X,T36) Stewart was a "five time loser"- meaning he had been to prison at least five times.(X,T43) He served time for breaking and entering and made most of his money by stealing.(X,T44)

Charles Stewart drank and would get violent when he drank.(X,T36) He was violent to Ms. Hibbard many times- he would blacken her eyes, cause bruises, and knocked her jaw out.(X,T37) Ms. Hibbard would leave him when he drank every few months, but would return.(X,T37) They had two children together, Charles and Terri.(X,T38) Charles never supported the children.(X,T43)

Ms. Hibbard did not know that Charles had a son,

Kenneth Stewart, until after they had been married for several months.(X,T36) She was told that Mr. Stewart was his mother, Elsie, and Bruce Scarpo in with South Carolina.(X,T36) Ms. Hibbard knew little about the marriage between Charles and Elsie.(X,T44) Charles told Ms. Hibbard that they had problems. Elsie drank, he would rob and buy her nice stuff, but she wouldn't care about the things and them.(X, T44). Ms. Hibbard would ruin assumed the relationship between Charles and Elsie was as violent as her relationship with Charles.(X,T45) Charles told Ms. Hibbard he was violent with Elsie because she would flirt a lot and he had a bad temper.(X,T46) Ms. Hibbard didn't know much about how Elsie treated her son- she had heard Elsie burnt Mr. that one time Stewart with а cigarette.(X,T46) Ms. Hibbard did not ever live with Mr. Stewart and did not see how he was treated by the Stewart family.(X,T47)

Ms. Hibbard learned that Mr. Stewart's mother died sometime in 1967.(X,T40) Ms. Hibbard knew that Charles met with Bruce Scarpo, but she didn't know what went on.(X,T40) Charles returned from South Carolina without Mr. Stewart.(X,T41)

Charles Stewart died in 1971, when Ms. Hibbard was

pregnant with her youngest child.(X,T41) She and Charles were divorced and she had remarried.(X,T41) Charles Stewart was killed on his 34^{th} birthday by a man he had fought with over \$.25 on a pool table in a bar.(X,T42) There was an outstanding warrant for him at the time of his death.(X,T44)

Charles Stewart had four siblings, all of whom died violently- two sisters in a car accident, one brother was stabbed to death in a bar fight.(X,T38-39) The siblings all had drinking problems.(X,T39)

Ms. Hibbard knew Estelle Berryhill, Elsie's mother.(X,T42) Estelle had a severe drinking problem and would drink whatever she could get a hold of, including sterno.(X,T42)

Charles Stewart [the son, Mr. Stewart's half brother], according to Ms. Hibbard, was currently in prison.(X,T38) He was always in trouble with the law.(X,T38) Terri Stewart has also had a lot of trouble with the law.(X,T38) Both children had trouble with drugs and alcohol.(X,T38)

Terri Stewart is Mr. Stewart's half sister.(X,T51) Their father is Charles [Pete] Stewart.(X,T51) Terri was 2 or 3 when Charles Stewart died and has no memory of him.(X,T51) Terri was raised by her mother, Ms. Hibbard,

and her grandmother.(X,T52) Her mother used drugs and drank- Terri was emotionally and physically abused.(X,T52) Terri Stewart was left on her own.(X,T53) She skipped school and got arrested for the first time at age 13 or 14.(X,T53) Terri began to drink and use drugs between 11 and 13.(X,T54) Terri had little contact with her father's family- she knew there are a few cousins and she met her Aunt Lillie once or twice.(X,T55) Terri met Mr. Stewart through jail.(X,T55) They have visited and exchanged letters.(X,T55) She never met Bruce Scarpo.(X,T58)

Terri testified that she has four children, but does not have custody of them.(X,T55-56) The State took them away and the children live with her mother and brother.(X,T56) Terri can't "get it together" and has no where to turn because her family is as "strung out as much as [she] is." (X,T56) Terri has been abused by her boyfriends and has acted violently toward them.(X,T57) She has been through the criminal justice system five or six times.(X,T58) She did not believe she was ever contacted by Mr. Fraser, but had attended court for Mr. Stewart several times.(X,T61)

Wanda Vetra testified that she is Mr. Stewart's maternal aunt.(X,T62) Ms. Vetra is the child of Estelle

Berryhill and James Vetra and is Elsie Tate's half sister.(X,T63) Elsie's mother was Estelle Berryhill, but Ms. Vetra did not know who Elsie's father was.(X,T63) Ms. Vetra was ten when she met Elsie for the first time.(X,T63) Elsie was twelve years older.(X,T63) Estelle Berryhill is living, but was diagnosed with Alzheimer's about six years earlier.(X,T64) Ms. Vetra has an older brother Johnny.(X,T64)

Ms. Vetra and her brother were taken from Estelle by the State and placed in foster care due to Estelle's alcohol problem.(X,T64) Ms. Vetra was in foster care from age 2 through age 14.(X,T65) Estelle did not visit Ms. Vetra, but Elsie secretly met with Ms. Vetra five or six times at a park. Elsie had Mr. Stewart with her one time.(X,T66) Mr. Stewart was very young, between 2 and 4.(X,T66) Ms. Vetra described Elsie as beautiful. Elsie candy, a purse, and would give brought her her money.(X,T66) Ms. Vetra had been told that Elsie died by being shot and committed suicide.(X,T71) Ms. Vetra did not believe Elsie would have committed suicide. (X, T71)

Ms. Vetra was returned to her mother at age 14 instead of going to the Ocala Girl's Home.(X,T68) She remained with Estelle until age 16, then married Charles Keller.

(X,T68) She did not finish high school.(X,T68) Ms. Vetra divorced Keller after five years and later married Thomas Avery. (X,T69) She and Mr. Avery have been married 27 years.(X<T69)

Ms. Vetra spoke to Bruce Scarpo by telephone once.(X,T69) She called Scarpo to find out where Mr. Stewart was.(X,T70) Scarpo threatened her, telling her he could have her "knocked off".(X,T70) The conversation was scary.(X,T70) Ms. Vetra and her family were scared of Bruce Scarpo and remain scared even after his death.(X,T71) Mr. Stewart told Ms. Vetra that he was scared of Bruce Scarpo(X,T77)

Mr. Stewart came to live with Ms. Vetra when he was in his twenties.(X,T71) Mr. Stewart drank some, but was sweet.(X,T72) Mr. Avery was trying to find Mr. Stewart a job.(X,T72) Mr. Stewart also lived with Estelle for a period of time.(X,T72) Estelle's husband Oliver would falsely accuse Mr. Stewart of taking things.(X,T75)

Ms. Vetra talked to Mr. Stewart about Elsie and her death.(X,T73) He was very sad and would cry a lot about his mother being gone.(X,T73) Ms. Vetra knew that Mr. Stewart went to Elsie's grave.(X,T74) Her headstone contains her picture.(X,T74) Mr. Stewart believed that

Bruce Scarpo had something to do with the death of his mother and father.(X,T77) The rest of the family somewhat believes this as well.(X,T78)

Ms. Vetra was never contacted by Mr. Fraser. (X, T78)

Susan Smith Moore currently lives in South Carolina.(X,T80) She considers Mr. Stewart her brother, but they are not biologically related.(X,T80) They were raised in the same household by Joanne and Bruce Scarpo.(X,T81) Joanne Scarpo is Ms. Smith's mother.(X,T81) Joanne has been dead for twenty years.(X,T82)

Ms. Smith met Mr. Stewart and Bruce Scarpo in Charleston, South Carolina.(X,T82) They moved in to the house that she, Joanne, her brother Jay and sister Linda lived in.(X,T82) Joanne and Bruce eventually had two children together, Nicole and Angela.(X,T82) Life with Joanne had been peaceful, quiet, and structured.(X,T86) Life with Bruce Scarpo was chaos, troubled, and violent all the time.(X,T86)

At first Ms. Smith described the relationship between Scarpo and Mr. Stewart as "stern".(X,T83) Mr. Stewart was treated like a possession.(X,T84) Scarpo disciplined Mr. Stewart by spanking, intimidation, beating, sending him to his room, and depriving him of food.(X,T84) Over time,

Scarpo began to discipline Ms. Smith and her siblings in the same manner.(X,T84,109) The children lived in a constant state of fear, never knowing how or when Scarpo would explode. (X,T109) Ms. Smith often feared that Scarpo would kill her while he beat her.(X,T106) He would hit her so hard it would knock her across a room.(X,T106)

Ms. Smith was sexually abused by Scarpo from a young age.(X,T129) When she was young, he would take baths with her and touch and feel her in an inappropriate way.(X,T129) Around age 11 he began touching her and making her touch him to teach her how not to get pregnant or end up a prostitute.(X,T130)

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