IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH ALLEN STEWART,

Appellant,

v. Case No. SC08-2075

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0503843
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
carol.dittmar@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Stewart does not explain how the sentencing judge could have reweighed the aggravating and mitigating factors, resulting in a different outcome, in light of the court's finding that the initial mitigation was more compelling than the postconviction mitigation. Instead, Stewart suggests that the seven-to-five jury recommendation compels a finding of prejudice, as the outcome could be changed by only one juror. On the facts of this case, the jury recommendation attests to the quality of the defense case for mitigation, and indicates the effectiveness of counsel's representation. Compare Mungin v. State, 932 So. 2d 986, 1002-03 (Fla. 2006) (rejecting similar IAC claim in case with 7-5 jury recommendation for death); Miller v. State, 926

So. 2d 1243, 1253 (Fla. 2006) (rejecting similar IAC claim, noting counsel's overall strategy, "actually resulted in five votes by the jury against the death penalty in a case that involved a brutal beating"); Suggs v. State, 923 So. 2d 419 (Fla. 2005); Pace, 854 So. 2d at 173-74.

The facts are: In Stewart's 2001 resentencing, Dr. Maher testified that the horrendous abuse Stewart suffered as a child resulted in Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, and that, as a result, Stewart was impulsive, had poor impulse control, and a reduced ability to think and make decisions (2RS. V9/753). Dr. Sultan testified that Stewart was mentally ill and suffered from depression and a substance abuse disorder; as a result, Stewart was impulsive, had poor impulse control, and a reduced ability to think clearly (2RS. V10/877-882). The State's expert, Dr. Merin, testified that Stewart was not mentally ill but suffered from antisocial personality disorder (2RS. V10/934). The judge found that Dr. Merin was more credible, noting that the facts of the case did not suggest an impulsive crime, but one that was coldly planned and smoothly executed (V1/60-63).

In postconviction, Stewart presented Dr. Eisenstein, who testified that Stewart has damage to the left hemisphere of his brain, from unknown causes but possibly from being beaten by his stepfather and/or because his mother consumed alcohol when she was pregnant with him, and as a result Stewart has learning

disabilities that caused him to fail in school, then experience great frustrations which, combined with the alcohol he consumed on the night of Diaz's murder, resulted in Stewart being impulsive, having poor impulse control, and an inability to sequence, and organize (V4/659-70). Stewart presented Dr. Wood to testify that his method of conducting PET scan tests reveals that the left hemisphere of Stewart's brain is larger than it should be and his sugar uptake showed reduced brain activity in some areas, conditions which Dr. Wood believed existed before Stewart was born (V15/T478-87). Dr. Wood described the manifestations of the damage as taking Stewart's ability to use "good sense" (V15T/488-89). The same judge specifically found that the mitigation provided by the two postconviction doctors was less compelling than the mitigation provided by the resentencing doctors who were less credible than Dr. Merin. No prejudice is possible on these facts.

Stewart has failed to demonstrate any error in the trial court's rejection of his claim that Bob Fraser provided ineffective assistance of counsel at resentencing for failing to discover and present evidence of organic brain damage. The record fully supports the court's conclusions that Fraser performed reasonably and that, even if he had performed differently in this regard, there is no reasonable probability

of a different outcome. This Court must affirm the denial of relief on this issue.

ISSUE II

THE COURT BELOW PROPERLY DENIED STEWART'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BASED ON THE FAILURE TO PRESENT ALL EVIDENCE OF MITIGATION.

Stewart next asserts that his resentencing attorney, Bob Fraser, was ineffective for failing to present additional mitigating evidence. Once again this claim was denied following an evidentiary hearing, so the trial court's factual findings are reviewed with deference and the legal conclusions are considered de novo. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 1999).

The record reflects that the family and lay witnesses presented at the postconviction evidentiary hearing provided substantially the same testimony as to Stewart's childhood and background as that presented to the jury at his resentencing. Some of the postconviction witnesses had actually testified at the resentencing, and other witnesses merely corroborated the evidence presented previously. In denying this claim, Judge Fleischer outlined testimony from the 2001 resentencing as well as the evidentiary hearing (V2/230-238), and determined "that the testimony presented during the instant proceedings was essentially cumulative in that the penalty phase witnesses testified in detail to Defendant's extremely tense, violent and abusive childhood at the hands of Scarpo as well as Defendant's

consumption of alcohol beginning at the age of five or six, Defendant's devastation upon learning that Scarpo was not his biological father, Defendant's alcohol abuse, his violent behavior when he drank alcohol, and his grief over and obsession with his biological mother" (V2/245-46, 250). The court further concluded that Stewart "failed to show that any of the additional mitigation evidence presented would have changed the outcome of the proceedings as required under Strickland" (V2/250-51). These findings are supported by the record, and should not be disturbed on appeal.

Stewart claims that the court's rejection of this issue failed to address evidence relating to mental health and substance abuse problems occurring in Stewart's biological parents, family, and other relatives. However, such evidence does not provide any mitigating value since it does not reduce Stewart's own moral culpability. To the extent that familial problems impacted Stewart's life and the commission of Diaz's murder, they were fully explored at the resentencing. The fact that Stewart's biological parents and their families had substance abuse and mental health issues which Stewart was not exposed to and did not know about is not surprising or persuasive as mitigation.

Stewart cites to $\underline{Parker\ v.\ State}$, 3 So. 3d 974 (Fla. 2009), and states that trial counsel in this case presented little more

than a "bare bones" outline of Stewart's past. A review of the resentencing proceeding refutes this suggestion. resentencing, both Susan Moore and Linda Arnold testified extensively about Stewart's childhood (2RS. V9/673-714; 716-Significantly, the testimony by Moore and Arnold, along with the other mitigation presented at the resentencing, compelled the trial court to find and weigh numerous mitigating factors in determining the appropriate sentence. In fact, Judge Fleischer found and weighed both statutory mental health mitigators, as well as twenty-three other, nonstatutory mitigating factors (V1/57-68; 2RS. V4/766-777); Stewart, 872 So. 2d at 228-29. Clearly, more than a "bare bones" presentation would have been necessary to compel the finding of twenty-five mitigating factors.

In contrast, in the <u>Parker</u> case, the trial court did not find any statutory or nonstatutory mitigating factors to apply. In discussing the "bare bones" mitigation case presented at trial by Parker, this Court stated, "Also important to Parker's claim of ineffective assistance by penalty phase counsel is the fact that on direct appeal this Court concluded that the evidence presented at the penalty phase was not enough to support the establishment of *any* nonstatutory mitigators." <u>Parker</u>, 3 So. 3d at 984 (emphasis in original). In this case Stewart has not identified a single mitigating factor that could

be found by a sentencer based on the mitigation presented in postconviction which was not already found and weighed based on the testimony from the resentencing.

Stewart now claims that the postconviction testimony of Pastor Van Horne, Sandra Hibberd, Wandra Vetra, Terri Lynn Stewart, and Nicole Stewart provided new mitigation that was not cumulative to the resentencing but corroborated and reinforced the evidence of abuse by Bruce Scarpo, as well as offering information never previously disclosed about Stewart's other biological relatives. However, most of these witnesses never observed Stewart in the Scarpo home; while Van Horne suggested that the family had some unusual practices, he testified that he had no indication that Stewart or the other children in the home were being abused (V10/T33). The other witnesses simply related mental health and substance abuse problems by Stewart's natural mother and father, who were not involved in Stewart's life after his toddler years. There was no attempt to connect any of this evidence to Stewart's life and circumstances and no indication as to any affect this family history may have had on the commission of the crime.

Of course, Stewart's argument on this issue does not specifically identify any new mitigating evidence relating to Stewart's background for consideration. Despite the fact that the court below denied this claim finding that the

postconviction nonstatutory mitigation was cumulative to the evidence presented at the resentencing, Stewart avoids any real analysis of the relative nature of the evidence by indicating that the postconviction evidence is fully described in Statement of the Facts and that page limits foreclose attempt to further summarize the testimony. Stewart merely submits that the testimony of Moore and Arnold "more than doubles in length" by the time of postconviction, inferring that trial counsel apparently should have simply continued to ask questions for the sake of asking questions. The court below determined that much of the "new" testimony was irrelevant (V10/132-38, 155-56, 162-64, 185, 195; V11/210, 212).at the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing below, counsel for Stewart chose to not even address this claim in his closing argument, candidly acknowledging that presentation of witnesses in postconviction was substantially cumulative to what had been presented at the 2001 resentencing (V16/T601-02).

Finally, Stewart fails to address the trial court's express finding that consideration of any additional mitigation offered in postconviction would not have changed the outcome of this case. This is a factual finding which, standing alone, defeats Stewart's claim. The postconviction judge entering this finding was the same judge that imposed the death penalty in 2001, and was clearly in the best position to determine whether any

"additional" mitigation offered in postconviction could have impacted the balance of aggravating and mitigating factors as considered at the resentencing. Given this finding, Stewart cannot demonstrate any possible prejudice, and the trial court's denial of relief on this claim must be affirmed.

ISSUE III

THE COURT BELOW PROPERLY DENIED STEWART'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BASED ON THE FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE CROSS EXAMINATION OF MARJORIE SAWYER.

Stewart's last issue challenges the trial court's denial of his claim that Bob Fraser provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to object to the prosecutor's cross examination of defense witness Marjorie Sawyer. This claim was also denied following an evidentiary hearing; so the trial court's factual findings are reviewed with deference and the legal conclusions are considered de novo. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 1999).

Stewart asserts that the court below found his attorney performed deficiently by failing to object, and consequently this Court need only consider the question of possible prejudice. To the contrary, the order entered below does not finding to the reasonableness of counsel's make a as performance. The court concluded that because Mr. Fraser could not specifically recall his thought processes during Ms. Sawyer's testimony, "the Court will not find that his failure to object to the statement [that Stewart had said he might kill again] was a strategic decision" (V2/252). This does not equate to a finding that Mr. Fraser performed deficiently. There is, of course, a strong presumption that counsel did perform reasonably, and a record which merely fails to reveal a

strategic decision is insufficient to rebut this presumption.

See Strickland; Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1045-46 (Fla. 2003).

Fraser testified at the evidentiary hearing that Sawyer's testimony did not surprise him; Stewart had a temper when he was drinking, and he knew the State would bring that out It would not be all that damaging, since it was (V14/T426). consistent with the defense theme that Stewart was dysfunctional due to his PTSD (V14/T426-27). He was sure he heard the testimony, and even in hindsight did not believe it to be egregious but part of the mural of Stewart's life (V14/T438, 444). His policy is not to object unless testimony really costs something and hurts the defense (V14/T430-31). He testified that he did not object to Sawyer's comment that Stewart had said he might kill again because the jury already knew there were two murders, and he had a vague memory of talking to Sawyer and he thought this comment had been made after the Diaz murder, the first one (V14/T428). Given this context, it didn't bother him that the jury heard it, "That's a tough call that you make when you're sitting there trying one of these cases" (V14/T442). Fraser discussed weighing the how much a comment might hurt or help and stated that he always made a considered decision in weighing whether or not to object, but he had no specific recall of a particular weighing process at the moment that Sawyer's

comment was made in this case, so the court below declined to find that the failure to object "was a strategic decision" $(V2/252;\ V14/T442-46)$. He still felt that, on balance, Sawyer did the defense more good than harm, for a lot of reasons (V14/T438).

There is no evidentiary support for any suggestion that every reasonable attorney would have objected to Sawyer's testimony. Although Stewart claims the comment that Stewart had indicated he might kill again was improper future dangerousness evidence, the comment was not offered as a nonstatutory aggravating factor but was offered to provide a context within which the jury could properly assess the mitigation Sawyer Even assuming the comment could be construed as offered. improper, as Mr. Fraser noted at the hearing, requesting a mistrial or curative instruction might only serve to highlight the comment. The court noted below that, because there was no indication when the comment was made and the jury was aware, in fact, that Stewart had "killed again," it was "not necessarily a comment on future dangerousness" (V2/253).

It is clear that the court below chose to address only the prejudice prong of <u>Strickland</u> rather than analyze the constitutional necessity of an objection to Sawyer's comment. The court concluded, "the Court finds Defendant has failed to show that but for counsel's allegedly deficient performance, the

outcome of the proceedings would have been different" (V2/254) (emphasis added). The court carefully analyzed why any prejudicial effect would be minimal, noting that the jury was aware that Stewart had killed more than once; the State did not argue uncharged crimes or future dangerousness as nonstatutory aggravation but in fact advised the jury that they could only consider the three aggravating factors which actually applied; and the court carefully instructed the jury on the limits of what could be considered in aggravation (V2/253-54). The court also cited cases where similar comments, in similar contexts, have been found to be harmless. See Allen v. State, 662 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 1995).

Notably, at the evidentiary hearing below, Stewart's attorney acknowledged that the comments he was challenging would not meet the standard required for fundamental error (V14/450). This Court has recognized that counsel cannot be found ineffective for failing to object to comments that do not amount to fundamental error. Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1045-46 (Fla. 2003).

In response to this analysis, Stewart offers only that similar comments have been found to be egregious in other cases, and that the jury recommendation was only seven to five. He concludes that "it cannot be said that the proper exclusion of this evidence would not have changed the sentencing outcome,"

but that is not the appropriate standard for assessing prejudice. Stewart does not assert a reasonable probability that a life sentence would have been imposed, had Mr. Fraser objected to Sawyer's comment. He has failed to meet his burden of establishing any possible prejudice on these facts.

For these reasons, the trial court's rejection of this claim of ineffective assistance of counsel must be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

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